JULY 2025

Mesh Sensing for Air and Missile Defense

A Vision for Passive, Proliferated Sensor Networks

(7)

^{AUTHORS} Masao Dahlgren Patrycja Bazylczyk Tom Karako

A Report of the CSIS Missile Defense Project

CSIS

CENTER FOR STRATEGIC & INTERNATIONAL STUDIES

Mesh Sensing for Air and **Missile Defense**

A Vision for Passive, Proliferated Sensor Networks

AUTHORS Masao Dahlgren Patrycja Bazylczyk Tom Karako

A Report of the CSIS Missile Defense Project



CSIS CENTER FOR STRATEGIC & INTERNATIONAL STUDIES

About CSIS

The Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS) is a bipartisan, nonprofit policy research organization dedicated to advancing practical ideas to address the world's greatest challenges.

Thomas J. Pritzker was named chairman of the CSIS Board of Trustees in 2015, succeeding former U.S. senator Sam Nunn (D-GA). Founded in 1962, CSIS is led by John J. Hamre, who has served as president and chief executive officer since 2000.

CSIS's purpose is to define the future of national security. We are guided by a distinct set of values—nonpartisanship, independent thought, innovative thinking, cross-disciplinary scholarship, integrity and professionalism, and talent development. CSIS's values work in concert toward the goal of making real-world impact.

CSIS scholars bring their policy expertise, judgment, and robust networks to their research, analysis, and recommendations. We organize conferences, publish, lecture, and make media appearances that aim to increase the knowledge, awareness, and salience of policy issues with relevant stakeholders and the interested public.

CSIS has impact when our research helps to inform the decisionmaking of key policymakers and the thinking of key influencers. We work toward a vision of a safer and more prosperous world.

CSIS does not take specific policy positions; accordingly, all views expressed herein should be understood to be solely those of the author(s).

© 2025 by the Center for Strategic and International Studies. All rights reserved.

Center for Strategic & International Studies 1616 Rhode Island Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20036 202-887-0200 | www.csis.org

Bloomsbury Academic

Bloomsbury Publishing Inc, 1385 Broadway, New York, NY 10018, USA Bloomsbury Publishing Plc, 50 Bedford Square, London, WC1B 3DP, UK Bloomsbury Publishing Ireland, 29 Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, DO2 AY28, Ireland BLOOMSBURY, BLOOMSBURY ACADEMIC and the Diana logo are trademarks of Bloomsbury Publishing Plc

First published in the United States of America, 2025

Copyright © Center for Strategic and International Studies, 2025

Cover design: Leena Marte Cover image © Arsenio Menendez

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be: i) reproduced or transmitted in any form, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording or by means of any information storage or retrieval system without prior permission in writing from the publishers; or ii) used or reproduced in any way for the training, development or operation of artificial intelligence (AI) technologies, including generative AI technologies. The rights holders expressly reserve this publication from the text and data mining exception as per Article 4(3) of the Digital Single Market Directive (EU) 2019/790.

Bloomsbury Publishing Inc does not have any control over, or responsibility for, any third-party websites referred to or in this book. All internet addresses given in this book were correct at the time of going to press. The author and publisher regret any inconvenience caused if addresses have changed or sites have ceased to exist, but can accept no responsibility for any such changes.

ISBN: PB: 979-8-7651-9845-2 ePDF: 979-8-7651-9847-6 ePub: 979-8-7651-9846-9

Printed and bound in the United States of America

For product safety related questions contact productsafety@bloomsbury.com.

To find out more about our authors and books visit www.bloomsbury.com and sign up for our newsletters.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the many peer reviewers who were generous with their time and expertise in the course of this project, along with CSIS Missile Defense Project colleagues Wes Rumbaugh, Hannah Freeman, and Grayson Phillips. The research team would also like to acknowledge IroquoiSystems/Lockheed Martin and Ansys Government Initiatives for providing critical software tools used in this report. This report is made possible by support from the Sierra Nevada Corporation and by general support to CSIS.

Contents

| Bringing Proliferated Sensing Down to Earth | 1 |
|---|----|
| The Passive Sensing Paradigm | 6 |
| Defense Design for Meshed Sensors | 13 |
| Mission Planning Considerations | 14 |
| Sustainment and Mobility Considerations | 21 |
| Network Considerations | 23 |
| Weather Considerations | 25 |
| Hiding in Plain Sight | 27 |
| About the Authors | 29 |
| Endnotes | 30 |

Bringing Proliferated Sensing Down to Earth

he diffusion of precision strike has made air and missile defense (AMD) more necessary– and more of a target. Widespread surveillance and targeting capabilities have made it easier for adversaries to find weaknesses in AMD systems, while standoff munitions have expanded their reach in attacking them.¹ As service strategies now emphasize, U.S. forces may more often find themselves fighting within an adversary's "weapons engagement zone."² In this environment, survival not only depends on dispersing or concealing, but on proliferating: presenting so many targets that an adversary cannot defeat them all.³

Proliferation has thus become a common theme in military strategies and acquisition plans. The Pentagon has embarked on major efforts to build affordable mass, buying fleets of drones and replacing handfuls of satellites with hundreds.⁴ New operational concepts offer frequent refrains about how proliferated assets–especially in the air and space domains–will improve performance and survivability.⁵ Those insights should now be applied to the air and missile defense mission.⁶

Much remains to be done to bring this philosophy to earth. Today's AMD sensors still consist of "a relatively small number of dedicated assets with high-emission signatures" that are susceptible to suppression.⁷ Achieving a more survivable sensor architecture will require many means of camouflage, concealment, and deception, such as radar signature management and decoying. Another approach could be to supplement these scarce and exquisite radars with a network of proliferated, surface-based sensors, allowing AMD networks to withstand "the specter of complex and integrated air and missile attack."⁸



Iranian state media released videos of an IRGC naval exercise in 2020, including the above still frame depicting a Hormuz surface-to-surface missile striking a replica of the American TPY-2 radar during Iran's "Great Prophet 14" exercise

Photo: IR of Iran Broadcasting⁹

Proliferation alone is insufficient for survival; it will be equally important to reduce the observability of AMD sensors.¹⁰ The energy emitted by AMD radars offers a signature for adversaries to target (see photo above).¹¹ The use of passive systems–sensors that receive energy rather than emit it–can therefore make a meaningful contribution. Historically, passive sensors–including electro-optical/ infrared (EO/IR), acoustic, and radiofrequency sensors–have lacked the range and resolution of traditional air defense radars.¹² Yet when combined in a mesh, with modern machine learning systems to make sense of them, passive sensors hold considerable promise, not only for tracking targets, but also for building a more capable and resilient defense.

"Because Army forces employ an increasing number of capabilities that emit electromagnetic radiation that enemies can target, leaders must apply emission control measures . . . As risk to the force increases, leaders increase their emissions control measures."

U.S. Army FM 3-0: Operations (2022)

A new vision is needed to make AMD sensor architecture more passive and proliferated, augmenting the active sensors at its core. The technical means to do so largely already exist. Ukraine has deployed acoustic sensor networks, like its over 9,500-sensor Sky Fortress system, to conserve the use of high-end AMD radars and foil Russian air attacks.¹³ While related operational concepts have been explored for years, the need to field them has grown more urgent.¹⁴ Their benefits will become even more important should a direct conflict between the United States and another strategic peer arise.

To explore this vision, this report considers passive and proliferated sensor networks for detecting three threat categories: aerial threats, hypersonic weapons, and ballistic missiles. A notional architecture of meshed passive sensors, with analysis of site selection, logistics, weather, and other considerations, informs this alternative vision for air and missile defense. The report's first section will review passive and EO/IR sensing as a modality, contrasting it with radar and other methods. The second section will construct a notional defense design of meshed EO/IR sensors, assessing implications for mission planning, sustainment, networking, and all-weather operations. EO/IR is not the only form of passive sensing, and it has many challenges. Understanding those challenges, however, will help underscore the different considerations needed for broader integration of passive sensor architectures.





Radar cost data derived from public purchases, reported in successive president's budget requests. Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project; data from the Department of Defense Comptroller.

BOX 1 Ukraine's Sky Fortress and Zvook: Acoustic Sensing for Air Defense

Long before the invention of radar, air defenders relied on acoustic devices–rudimentary listening horns and ear trumpets–to detect the sound of incoming aircraft.¹⁵ Now, with air defense radars in short supply and under constant attack, Ukraine has reintroduced acoustic methods for detecting Russian drone and missile strikes.¹⁶ Their successful employment against Russian and Iranian drones has helped reinvigorate interest in passive, proliferated sensors for air and missile defense.

Ukraine's acoustic sensor networks bear little resemblance to the horns used a century ago. Homegrown sensor networks like Zvook ["Sound"] and Sky Fortress connect hundreds to thousands of low-cost microphones across the battlefield, using artificial intelligence to classify, triangulate, and target incoming weapons.¹⁷ These detections, when fed into Ukraine's Delta and Virazh command-and-control networks, can be accurate enough to predict drone positions, azimuths, and trajectories, cue air defense systems, and enable shootdowns– contributing to the defeat of 80 out of 84 drones in one recent attack.¹⁸ The sensors pick up drones' distinctive sounds and cue the system, telling air defenders where to look.

These acoustic sensors can be proliferated in a way traditional air defense radar systems cannot. Unlike air defense radars, which can cost hundreds of thousands or millions of dollars per unit, each microphone in the 270-sensor Zvook network costs approximately \$500 and consists of a small microphone, a plastic acoustic mirror, and support electronics.¹⁹ Meanwhile, initial variants of the Sky Fortress system used repurposed Android smartphones in weather-resistant housings installed on cell towers, with roughly similar unit costs.²⁰

Despite their limited range–Zvook sensors can detect drones and cruise missiles at five and seven kilometers, respectively, and Sky Fortress can detect these at two–Ukraine has considerably expanded sensor coverage at minimal cost.²¹ As of 2024, Sky Fortress numbered between 9,500 and 12,500 sensors, covering 80 percent of Ukraine's territory and costing roughly \$3 million to roll out its first 65 percent.²² Zvook is estimated to require 8,000 sensors to cover Ukraine, with similar unit economics. Most remarkably, both systems have been funded through private donations.²³

Aside from being cost-effective, these acoustic sensor networks add novel capabilities to Ukraine's air defense networks. Emitting no radiofrequency energy, these sensors can locate targets within five-degree sectors, enough to cue air defense radar.²⁴ Where earlier attempts at acoustic sensing had detection rates as low as 76 percent, the Zvook system, continuously trained on threat sounds, reportedly detects targets at a 98.4 percent rate.²⁵ Further, the deep learning algorithms powering these networks can classify munition types by sound—so accurately that Russia has attempted to alter or muffle drone engines (to little

effect).²⁶ Additional developments might allow the deployment of acoustic sensors at sea and to directly guide defensive drones and effectors.²⁷

These characteristics pose a substantial challenge for Russian attackers. Unlike radar, acoustic sensors do not emit radiofrequency energy, which Russia might normally use to locate them. The sensors themselves can be deployed in austere locations, with minimal size, power, and communications bandwidth requirements. And by cueing air defense radars to target incoming threats, they enhance the survivability of entire air defense networks, shrinking the window of time for high-end radars to radiate and potentially reveal themselves.²⁸

These sensor networks exemplify an emerging paradigm in air defense sensing: increasingly proliferated, passive, and robust. While these sensors cannot provide high-fidelity target tracks, they are good enough to confirm the presence of potential low-flying threats, route defenders, and cue defensive radars.²⁹ Ukraine's Virazh air defense planning system now ingests 40 unique data sources–acoustic sensors, legacy Soviet radars, and even user-submitted missile sightings–to build an air picture.³⁰ The quantity and diversity of sensors, as well as their tight integration, has allowed Ukraine to preserve its air defenses amid significant resource constraints.



Figure 2: Ground-Based AMD Sensor Modernization Programs, 2009-2025

Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project; data from the Department of Defense Comptroller.

The Passive Sensing Paradigm

oday's ground-based air and missile defenses largely depend on radar to spot incoming threats. In many ways, radar is an ideal modality: With only a single sensor, an air defense radar can resolve the position, velocity, and heading of a threat in three dimensions, day and night, with limited interference from harsh weather conditions. As such, many of the backend algorithms used to track threats, identify friends and foes, and complete interceptions were developed in the radar age. Existing air defense systems are highly capable, but they are also single points of failure, emitting energy that can be detected.³¹

Passive sensors, including EO/IR sensors, represent a different paradigm. Radar must radiate energy to illuminate targets and detect them. The required energy supply only increases with distance; for the radiofrequency beam to shine even further, larger antennas, or multiples more energy, are needed. By contrast, EO/IR, acoustic, and passive radiofrequency sensors simply collect the energy emitted from the threat objects themselves.

Passive sensing presents some advantages for survivability. Radar emissions can betray defenders' locations, making them vulnerable to attack. By not emitting energy, passive sensors make it challenging for adversaries to find and suppress air defenses. EO/IR represents one category of passive sensing, but it is not the only one. Ukraine's Sky Fortress consists of acoustic sensors that listen for sound energy. Their microphones do not emit easily detectable signals, and neither do the passive radio receivers of the U.S. Army's Long Range Persistent Surveillance (ALPS) system (Box 2). Passive sensors have been explored for survivable air defense detection, and as a category they are now worth revisiting, with the aim of spreading sensors with smaller power, emissions, and operational footprints through the battlespace.³²

BOX 2 Passive Radar

While not investigated in this case study, passive radar encompasses a family of approaches for detecting airborne targets without emitting radiofrequency emissions. A typical method is to detect incidental wireless broadband or TV signals that reflect off of them: so-called "emitters of opportunity."³³ When profiled correctly, these opportunistic reflections offer unique signatures, aiding the detection of low-flying or low-observable targets.

Passive radar has historically required considerable computing power to function, processing many signal returns from multiple emitters of opportunity.³⁴ As such, exponential improvements in computing hardware have made these systems more viable than before.³⁵ Advancements in computing, along with other innovations, like in photonic signal generation and processing, may further drive passive radar's range and precision.³⁶

Multiple services have already begun to develop and deploy passive radar systems. Systems like the Army Long-Range Persistent Surveillance (ALPS) sensor offer the widearea detection needed to detect low-flying, low-signature systems like cruise missiles, and have already been deployed to the CENTCOM, EUCOM, and INDOPACOM theaters.³⁷ Further development of the ALPS system, budgeted at \$31 million in FY 2025, is expected to continue through 2029, with new hardware to be fabricated by 2027.³⁸



Army Long-Range Persistent Surveillance (ALPS) passive radar. Photo: Leidos

The EO/IR sensors assessed here present significantly different tradeoffs in power, footprint, and range. Because they passively detect their targets' infrared emissions, they consume less power; these advantages become especially pronounced with faraway targets like satellites. A sensor network that simultaneously enables space situational awareness and hypersonic cueing has now become possible.

Unlike radar, however, the EO/IR sensors assessed in this case study do not detect targets in three dimensions, and detection can be significantly attenuated by turbulence, clouds, haze, and the position of the sun. Still, EO/IR sensors offer a novel mix of capabilities, with the potential to serve as space surveillance assets and lower-tier air defense sensors at once.

One tradeoff to consider is these sensors' field-of-view and viewing angle limitations. Many groundbased systems, including radar and EO/IR sensors, face range limitations at lower viewing angles.³⁹ At low angles, the amount of atmosphere an EO/IR sensor must peer through increases, with more absorption and scattering effects that interfere with detection.⁴⁰ The detection range of an EO/IR sensor thus depends heavily on the elevation of the target. Looking directly above, an EO/IR sensor may be capable of detecting satellites over 1,000 kilometers overhead–much further than a lowertier air defense radar. At 20 degrees of elevation, however, the EO/IR sensor may only be capable of detecting aircraft tens of kilometers away (Figure 3).⁴¹ The coverage of such a sensor looks less like a dome and more like an ogive, with the furthest detection distances at the highest point (Figure 3).



Figure 3: EOIR Coverage Characteristics

EOIR sensors offer extended performance at high elevations and degraded performance at lower elevations, presenting unique coverage advantages. Not to scale. Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project. Another consideration involves weather sensitivity: The range of EO/IR sensors can be dramatically affected by weather changes and by the sun's position relative to a target. Infrared light does not penetrate weather and atmospheric conditions as readily as radio waves do. In hazy weather conditions, it can be expected that detection distance might fall by orders of magnitude.⁴² While radar can also be subject to weather-related disruptions, planning EO/IR sensing missions would need to involve greater attention to, and prediction of, weather change (Figure 4).

Finally, a single EO/IR sensor does not resolve target data in three dimensions. With only a twodimensional field of regard, a sensor's functionality may be limited to space surveillance or radar resource management, rather than air and missile defense. With space-based tracking, coverage with two sensors at once (known as stereo tracking) is necessary to triangulate a missile's position and track it in three dimensions. Nevertheless, it may become possible to combine EO/IR sensors with radar or (low-emission) laser ranging sensors, as Germany did in its 1990s Reconnaissance and Engagement of Air Targets (Aufklärung und Bekämpfung von nicht ballistischen Flugkörpern) program, or ABF, which derived actionable cueing data with only one sensor (Box 2).





Atmospheric transmission is highest at high elevations and lowest at near-horizontal elevations, where lower-altitude threats fly. Look angle can substantially influence the range of an infrared sensor. At lower elevation angles, a sensor must look through a substantially longer column of air, with associated haze, turbulence, and extinction (attenuation) effects. EO/IR sensors perform best when witnessing targets at near-vertical angles.

Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project; data from the Department of Defense.43

In sum, EO/IR sensing offers favorable characteristics compared to radar: reduced size and power, no radiofrequency emissions, increased sensitivity to weather conditions, increased range against high-altitude targets, and decreased range against low-altitude targets. For these reasons, EO/IR approaches remain dominant for space-based sensing, with their tight constraints on size, weight, and power. Similar considerations apply to proliferated sensing on Earth–EO/IR sensors can operate in remote locations, unattended, and with minimal power.

A case study on EO/IR sensors stands in sharp contrast to the philosophies guiding air defense design today. Passive sensors do not have to replace active ones to be relevant. Identifying both the strengths and limitations of EO/IR sensors is critical to determining their place in a defense design.



A Reaper UAV with MTS-C infrared missile-tracking sensor.

Photo: Missile Defense Agency

BOX 3 Germany's ABF Advanced Technology Demonstrator

The use of EO/IR sensors for ground-based air defense has been successfully demonstrated before. One such example was Germany's Reconnaissance and Engagement of Air Targets (ABF) prototyping effort, which ran from 1997 to 2003.

To meet requirements for survivable, non-emitting sensors-termed "silent-mode air surveillance"–Germany's Ministry of Defense (MoD) contracted the firm Diehl VA/ BGT to develop ABF in 1997. The initial system adapted existing imaging infrared seeker technologies to produce a ground-based sensor capable of detecting air targets at



Photo: NATO STO.45

distances of up to 20 kilometers, depending on target signature and weather. The system occupied a roughly refrigerator-sized footprint.

The ABF camera system consisted of four wide-angle search sensors and a higher-resolution verification sensor.⁴⁴ Each search sensor used a mid-wave infrared sensor with a 256-by-256-pixel resolution; these were housed on a horizontally rotating platform covering a 360-degree azimuth. Each sensor could cover a negative 5 to positive 80-degree elevation angle using a mechanically stepped optic, providing different fields of view for different elevation angles. The sensor operated with a 9-degree field of view at lower elevation angles and a 23-degree field of view at the highest, where background clutter was lower.

Due to their lower resolution, ABF's search sensors were only capable of detecting potential targets, requiring a second, higher-resolution sensor to distinguish them from clutter and other objects. This verification sensor was housed on a movable gimbal and had a similar resolution with a narrower field of view of 1 degree.⁴⁶ Accepting cues from the search sensors, the sensor would slew to confirm potential targets.

While EO/IR sensors usually resolve targets in two dimensions, ABF could track targets in three dimensions by integrating a laser rangefinder with its camera system. The rangefinder, housed alongside the verification sensor, would derive the range-to-target data needed to triangulate a target's position and calculate velocity and heading.

The MoD first successfully tested ABF in late 1999. On a test range in northern Germany, ABF successfully tracked several drones, attack aircraft, and helicopters flying various maneuvers, as well as head-on launches of several SA-7 surface-to-air missiles in the near vicinity. The ABF test and development program concluded in 2003. Since then, the MoD has focused its EO/IR

sensing developments on seekers and missile warning systems such as the Passive IR Missile Warner (PIMAWS) advanced technology demonstrator.⁴⁷

The technologies behind each of ABF's major components have improved dramatically since 1997, making it reasonable to believe that modern approaches could offer considerably better performance. Resolution is often a limiting factor for EO/IR sensor performance and field of view; yet today, 1028-by-1028, 2000-by-2000, and 4000-by-4000-pixel-resolutions are a commodity product, in comparison to the 256-pixel resolutions considered for ABF.⁴⁸ The target-detection methods used by ABF–basic local contrast, high-pass and statistical correlation algorithms–have been eclipsed by recent advancements in machine learning and computer vision.⁴⁹ The hardware used to ingest, store, and process image data is also now orders of magnitude more capable.⁵⁰ Where ABF's designers discussed gigabit sensor data rates as a design limitation, today's consumer-grade cameras offer multiple gigabits of data transfer speed.⁵¹ Although the physics of EO/IR sensing remain unchanged, the cameras, computer hardware, and vision algorithms enabling it have benefitted most from recent technical change.

Defense Design for Meshed Sensors

"[The United States] must build the resiliency of our constellation of sensors . . . from the seabed to the Karman Line. It must be resilient. It must be redundant. It must include the elements of graceful degradation, so that if one thing is out, it's just a small loss in capability but it still provides enough. And we've got to work tirelessly to close those gaps."

Samuel Paparo, INDOPACOM Commander⁵²

Many considerations affect the design of a proliferated sensor network, including line of sight and terrain obstruction, sustainment and mobility challenges, network bandwidth, and weather constraints. Site selection for a sensor mesh of hundreds or thousands of sensors is a fundamentally different problem from the siting of only one–a problem that is no longer solvable with current planning approaches. Efficiently covering a battlespace with distributed sensors is not an exercise in placing arbitrary grids.⁵³ Indeed, the task of designing sensor meshes for complex terrain is famously difficult.⁵⁴ It is a form of mathematics' famous "art gallery problem," where discovering the minimum number of assets needed is formally impossible.⁵⁵

To unpack these considerations, this report constructs a notional laydown of proliferated EO/ IR sensors in Poland. The geography of Poland offers a useful test case for considering meshed sensors, with a mix of relevant topographies and an area comparable to theaters of interest, including in the Indo-Pacific. Initial laydowns were derived from a custom Python script that imports an open-source digital elevation model (DEM) of the area and calculates the sensors' lines of sight against targets at varied altitudes. The script implements a genetic optimization algorithm (NSGA-II) and binary search to approximate a sensor laydown that provides 99.5 percent coverage with the minimum number of sensors.

The resultant laydowns were then imported to SmartSET, an air and missile defense planning tool, to model specific engagements. The research team constructed an attack scenario involving 20 generic intermediate-range ballistic missile threats—including lofted and depressed trajectories—and four generic hypersonic glide vehicles.

The following imagery and sections describe the considerations made in this case study. On the whole, the study demonstrates the important contribution that meshed, passive sensors can provide to an air and missile defense design. They do not replace radars, but such networks can usefully improve the detection, tracking, and warning time of an architecture.

MISSION PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

Ground-based sensors face limits to their ability to track low-flying airborne targets. Both Earth's curvature and surrounding terrain features block ground-based sensors' line of sight at lower viewing angles, limiting maximum range (Figure 5). This is why deployments at higher elevations are often preferable: While a 5-meter-high, mast-mounted sensor could view a low-flying cruise missile (250-meter altitude) as far as 64 kilometers, that same sensor on a 5,000-meter aerostat could see as far as 309 kilometers, or 382 percent further.⁵⁶

Figure 5: Line of Sight Constraints Against Unmanned Aerial Systems (UAS), Aircraft, and Hypersonic Threats



Surface-based sensor coverage in this Middle East scenario is dramatically affected by surrounding terrain and target altitude. The coverage of various threat classes is shown in different colors, with 250-meter altitude threats in red, 1000-meter threats in blue, 10,000-meter threats in yellow, and 20,000-meter threats in purple. Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project.

These facts alone explain why proliferated approaches can be so valuable for ground-based sensor architectures. If high-end sensors already face line-of-sight constraints on their maximum range, a mesh of smaller, shorter-range sensors may perform similarly to a mesh of longer-range ones—at least against lower-flying targets. Alternatively, passive sensors with long detection ranges at high elevations, like EO/IR sensors, could bolster coverage against high-flying targets and satellites. Finally, a proliferated sensor network would allow sensors to be based in regions that offer multiple angles of view, allowing them to peer behind the coverage "shadow" cast by elevated terrain (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Coverage Footprints: Notional Patriot-Class Radar (1), IR Sensors (19x)

Coverage against 1 kilometer- (blue), 10 kilometer- (yellow), and 20 kilometer- (purple) altitude threats, assuming 10-degree elevation constraint on IR sensors and 5-degree elevation constraint on radar. Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project.

The challenge, however, comes with planning meshed laydowns. To select a site for a single Patriot air defense radar system, Army air defense planners are instructed to "determine the optimum FU [fire unit] locations based on geographical constraints, assets to be defended, and threat AAAs [areas of approach]" using a color-coded elevation map, "visualiz[ing] ridges and valleys which define the most likely air avenues of approach."⁵⁷ Site selection for even an individual radar is an involved process in which potential missile launch sites, tactical mobility, and other considerations are accounted for (Figure 7). With more sensors involved, these problems balloon in complexity, involving "long lead times in many instances" and the coordination of multiple echelons of planners.⁵⁸

"A defense design is usually focused on the capabilities of a single BMD element."

FM 3-27: Army Global Missile Defense Operations (2023)59

Computational approaches are needed to determine where to place proliferated sensors. In an era of single, exquisite sensors, this process may simply entail choosing the most elevated regions on the map. With large-scale networks, however, the complexity of this problem explodes, as each sensor's position affects the placement of others, and each sensor's coverage varies based on its position.⁶⁰

Figure 7: Screenshots of Joint Sensor Placement Planning Utilities, Including C2BMC Planner



The U.S. Army describes C2BMC Planner as its software suite for "coordination of multiple theater defense designs into larger, regional defense plans," assisting in "optimizing sensor coverage and weapons systems placement before deploying an element." In an era of proliferated sensors, the magnitude of optimization problems these planning suites must solve will increase significantly. Source: U.S. Army.⁶¹

The task of maximizing coverage while minimizing the number of sensors needed–a so-called "covering problem"–is formally unsolvable. But heuristic algorithms can approximate a nearoptimal design. The use of such methods to optimize air defense sensor laydowns, especially against low-flying, terrain-shaded targets, has been studied for some time. Some authors, for instance, have demonstrated a "greedy" heuristic: An algorithm searches a terrain map for the highest-covering point, places a sensor, and, with that area covered, searches for the second-best point, repeating until the map is covered.⁶²

Another approach, employed here, is to use genetic algorithms to search for an optimal design. Using this approach, an algorithm repeatedly tests designs, iterating on the best performers and discarding the worst. This process, which approximates natural selection, eventually converges on a near-optimal design for maximizing coverage with the minimum number of observers (Figure 9). The configurations of these designs for hypersonic/ballistic missile, aircraft, and cruise missile/ drone threats (Figure 8) were calculated over several days using a custom optimization script. Figure 8: Optimized Ground-Based EO Sensor Lines of Sight for Hypersonic, Aircraft, and Cruise Missile/Drone Targets



The following images represent line-of-sight-optimized laydowns for covering Poland with meshed sensors. The number needed for 99.5 percent coverage changes significantly given the altitude of the target. Left: 20-kilometer target, 1 sensor. Center: 2-kilometer target, 9 sensors. Right: 200-meter target, 396 sensors. Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project.



Figure 9: Optimization of Sensor Coverage over Time

Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project.

What constitutes an optimal site selection depends on the expected altitude of the threat (Figure 8). To detect hypersonic and ballistic weapons–typically at altitudes over 20 kilometers–line-of-sight constraints are such that a single sensor with horizon-limited viewing angles could provide complete coverage. Against a 2-kilometer altitude target–like tactical aircraft–the number of sensors

needed expands to nine. Against a target at 200 meters–typical of UAS–the number of sensors needed grows dramatically to 396.

These numbers would presumably expand even further if stereoscopic tracking–covering all targets with at least two sensors–were a requirement. To reduce computing time, these architectures were not computed in this study. Indeed, while many air- and space-based infrared tracking systems use stereoscopic viewing (two-sensor viewing) to resolve targets in three dimensions, several past EO/IR systems considered combined simple EO detection with laser rangefinding to do the same.

Figure 10: Sensor Coverage Requirements Against 20-Kilometer Altitude Hypersonic Threat, by Minimum Viewing Angle (Elevation)



Limits on a sensor's minimum viewing angle (elevation) can also affect the number of sensors needed for coverage. Left: no elevation constraints, 1 asset; Center: 5-degree minimum elevation, 4 assets; Right: 10-degree minimum elevation, 14 assets. Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project.

As emphasized before, however, EO/IR sensors face unique challenges in detecting targets at lower viewing angles, where the column of atmosphere through which they look is considerably longer. As shown in Figure 10, coverage of a 20-kilometer altitude, hypersonic-class target requires 4 sensors if viewing angles are restricted to 5-degree elevation or higher, and 14 sensors if viewing angles are restricted to 10-degree elevation or higher. For even larger architectures, these viewing constraints can multiply the required assets dramatically: Nearly 400 sensors are needed for counter-UAS coverage, for instance (Figure 8).

Air defense planning is challenging, and more sensors dramatically increase the computational intensity of mission planning, demanding new tools and approaches.⁶³ It is no longer a matter of manually searching for a highest point.⁶⁴ For such distributed systems to be viable, policymakers must tolerate larger numbers of sensors than is optimal, reduce the marginal cost of additional sensors, or procure mission planning systems capable of optimizing mesh sensor placement.

Nevertheless, there may be circumstances in which simplified laydowns might contribute. Even a forward picket of lower-tier sensors could aid existing radars, cueing them to search a specific volume, reducing the time they spend emitting, speeding target acquisition, and potentially extending engagement distances. As demonstrated in Ukraine, meshed sensors have allowed air defenders to keep high-value radars concealed in a non-emitting mode until needed.

As stressed above, the approach here represents a different philosophy, prioritizing emissions control and operational flexibility over raw radar capability. Even early and imprecise cues of a target's general position can extend the battlespace of existing systems and enhance their survivability.

These benefits can be illustrated by means of a scenario. In a notional attack drawn up for the purposes of this study, EO/IR sensors' long detection range at higher elevations allows for enhanced coverage against high-flying ballistic missile threats, with even a few assets providing useful coverage. Additionally, an EO/IR sensor mesh can enhance the survivability of existing radar architectures by reducing the amount of time a radar needs to be active.

In the attack scenario depicted below, the 14-sensor configuration developed in Figure 10 was emplaced in SMARTSet, a modeling tool for assessing specific engagements. The scenario involved a salvo of 24 missiles launched from Russia, including 4 notional hypersonic glide vehicles and 20 generic intermediate-range ballistic missiles (IRBMs), aimed at NATO facilities in western Poland.



Figure 11: Meshed Sensor Design Imported into Attack Scenario

The resultant meshed sensor design of 14 assets, assuming reduced coverage at 10 degrees minimum elevation, was imported into SmartSET and tested against a simulated attack involving 20 ballistic missiles and 4 hypersonic glide vehicles. Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project.

To model interceptions, a notional Patriot battery in Szczecin and the Aegis Ashore site in Redzikowo were included, both with and without the mesh of generic EO/IR sensors (Figures 11, 12). Given limitations on processing, each EO/IR sensor was modeled as being capable of providing 3D tracking individually, perhaps with an ABF-like laser rangefinding system (Box 3). If requirements on two-sensor stereo tracking become necessary, then it can be assumed that the number of sensors needed would be 28 or fewer.





A reference sensor laydown, involving a notional Aegis Ashore and Patriot radar system and interceptors, was produced in SmartSET for comparison with the meshed sensor network. Both designs were equipped with a combination of notional Standard Missile and Patriot interceptors. Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project.

While inputs were intentionally genericized, a comparison between a defense with meshed sensors and one without resulted in 26 percent more interceptions (five more IRBMs) with a sensor mesh (Figure 13). The architecture was also able to detect and engage targets earlier—up to 3 minutes and 44 seconds for one hypersonic glide vehicle target—on account of the forward-based sensors. These results illustrate one potential scenario for EO/IR sensor meshes to contribute to existing defenses, particularly for higher-altitude targets like hypersonic and ballistic missiles (Figures 11, 12, 13).

Figure 13: Engagement Scenario Intercept Results



Assuming such proliferated sensors provide sufficient data quality to support intercepts, an architecture equipped with distributed EOIR sensors intercepted 26 percent more missiles than one without, in the notional scenario depicted here. Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project.

SUSTAINMENT AND MOBILITY CONSIDERATIONS

Deploying a distributed surfacebased sensor mesh will involve specialized approaches to logistics and sustainment. While deploying many assets across wide areas will create new challenges, the use of lower-footprint sensors could reduce the high manning and transport requirements of existing systems. Moving a basic Patriot unit–a minimum engagement package (MEP)-requires up to seven C-17 flights (Figure 14). In early 2025, the task of moving just one Patriot battalion to the Middle East reportedly entailed 73 C-17 flights.⁶⁵ A proliferated sensor network, with broader distribution and leaner manning, might create new opportunities for strategic mobility and new challenges for tactical mobility.

"When choosing a location, staff planners must consider accessibility, connectivity, protection of sites, equipment, Soldiers, potential interference, and host nation support when planning to place the system in theater. An additional factor that must be considered during site selection is the need to protect friendly forces and facilities by dispersing of(sic) radio frequency emissions locations."

FM 3-27: Army Global Missile Defense Operations (2023)66

At a tactical level, deploying and resupplying many assets across wide areas will introduce novel, if solvable, problems. Logistical needs create new wrinkles for mission planners–requirements for proximity to roads, for instance, might add some constraints on the optimal placement of assets.⁶⁷ Requirements for physical protection of assets, meanwhile, could be mitigated with modern encryption and tamper resistance techniques, but manned protection of a sensor grid would pose an additional challenge.

At an operational level, realizing proliferated sensor networks will require the services to further integrate existing analytic tools for mobility planning with air and missile defense mission planning. Sensors connected to centralized power supplies could open civilian power grids to enemy attack, demanding distributed grids with high-performance battery, solar, generator, or fuel cell supplies.

Additionally, the physical communications backbone that connects gridded assets will need engineering and placement as careful as that required by the sensors themselves.

To that end, the Joint Force could learn from prior experience in deploying distributed ground systems. Contemporary space surveillance telescope networks routinely deploy sensors in remote locations with minimal human attendance.⁶⁸ The Air Force, meanwhile, already operates a network of 400 unattended siloes for the nation's ground-based nuclear deterrent, relying on remote monitoring and anti-tampering measures to secure the force.⁶⁹ The Army's Patriot forces are likewise shifting toward using distributed communications nodes, such as the Remote Interceptor Guidance-360 (RIG-360), across the battlefield.⁷⁰ Finally, experience in Ukraine suggests that sensors could be collocated with existing assets, including cellular infrastructure.

The capacity to move dozens or hundreds of sensors into a theater has expanded considerably. Many geographies are favorable for distribution: In the Poland scenario, for instance, most landmass surveyed falls within one kilometer of a road, with few exclusions for muddy, swampy, or challenging soil (Figure 15). In other maritime theaters, services, startup firms, and national laboratories have experimented with unmanned small ships and other swarming assets that could base potential sensor networks.⁷¹ The sustainment challenges associated with proliferation are solvable, provided adequate resourcing and initiative.





Spread over seven C-17 aircraft, this configuration includes a radar set, launcher with 4-pack (x2), engagement control station, battery command post, electric power plant, guided missile transporter with 4-pack, small repair parts transporter, fuel tanker, intermediate support element Humvee, reconnaissance, selection, and occupation of position Humvee, Humvee, trailer (x4), 4-pack missile pallet (x2), 463L pallet (x13), and personnel (x61). Spread over five C-5 aircraft, this configuration includes one fewer 4-pack missile pallets, one fewer 463L pallets, one fewer Humvees, five additional personnel, an additional utility support trailer, and an additional commander Humvee and troop Humvee.

Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project; data from the U.S. Army.



Figure 15: Mobility Limitations in Poland Scenario

Green: regions within one kilometer of road. Brown: soils described by European Soil Database as "muddy," swampy, or impassible terrain. Red: regions exceeding 5 percent grade. Blue: water. Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project; terrain data from European Soil Database; OpenStreetMap.

NETWORK CONSIDERATIONS

A sensor architecture with so many nodes will generate a considerable amount of data to process and transmit. Prior wide-area EO sensor systems, such as Gorgon Stare, generated petabytes of raw imagery data during operation, increasing computing needs and posing a challenge to analysts.⁷² Such an architecture will consume considerable communications bandwidth. Even in the notional scenario discussed above, the network of distributed sensors generated significantly more communications than one without (Figure 16).

In the decade since Gorgon Stare, system architects have increasingly reduced those data bandwidth challenges by preprocessing on the edge. The Proliferated Warfighter Space Architecture (PWSA) Tracking Layer satellites, for instance, preprocess their raw imagery feeds into twodimensional tracks, which are downlinked to warfighters. Germany's legacy ABF program used more rudimentary filtering algorithms to form target tracks and discard unnecessary information.⁷³ While full-quality telemetry will occasionally be needed to improve tracking algorithms, architecting a proliferated ground-based system will entail special attention to data reduction, taking advantage of the increased availability of high-performance compute.

In many respects, the edge processing problem has eased significantly. Power, weight, and radiation hardness requirements are substantially less constrained than with spacecraft, allowing the provision of more onboard computing power.



Figure 16: Data Packets Exchanged During Russia-Poland Attack Scenario

Sensor meshes require considerable communications bandwidth to handle the large number of assets involved. In the scenario developed in Figures 11 and 12, the flow of messages between sensors and C2 systems begins earlier and peaks higher than in the baseline case.

Source: CSIS Missile Defense Project.

More crucially, the technologies enabling rapid edge processing have advanced significantly in the past two decades; multi-gigapixel image processing pipelines are now commodity products, as are the graphics processing units and embedded computing systems to support new tracking algorithms.⁷⁴ The broader industry for computer vision has exploded: Between 2010 and 2025, submissions to the Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition conference exploded 655 percent, while the performance of computer vision hardware has roughly doubled every two years.⁷⁵ Actors seeking to build a distributed EO/IR system would benefit from the deep ecosystem of hardware, algorithmic, and software advancements already available today. However, the vulnerabilities of AI/ ML algorithms to adversarial attacks (e.g., spoofing, data poisoning) must be carefully considered and mitigated through robust security measures and continuous monitoring.

WEATHER CONSIDERATIONS

Perhaps the most significant challenge for a meshed EO/IR sensor architecture involves inclement weather. While EO/IR modalities can offer meaningful footprint and range advantages for high-altitude targets, poor weather can reduce their viewable distance by several orders of magnitude (Figure 18).

In fairness, the challenges posed by weather affect force design for a wide range of emerging capabilities. High-energy lasers and other directed-energy systems, seen as necessary for future threats, will face similar constraints in foggy, misty, and hazy environments.⁷⁶ In that sense, implementing an EO/IR sensor network could be a forcing function for integrating the next generation of military weather prediction and measurement systems.⁷⁷ Better understanding of turbulence, distributed placement of weather sensors, and new AI models for prediction might revolutionize joint planning for a number of capabilities, outside of EO/IR sensors alone.

Future mission planners working with directed-energy systems or EO/IR sensors must create force designs that change with predicted weather conditions and interface with existing, weather-robust sensors and interceptors. It may, for instance, be possible to dynamically reallocate sensor laydowns for best- and worst-case weather conditions and team them with existing radars to maintain ideal coverage.

Further, the EO/IR case study considered here is just one type of passive sensing. The challenges posed by weather underscore the need to integrate meshed sensors with other passive sensing modalities and existing, active architectures. Passive, multistatic radar, passive radiofrequency detection, acoustic systems, and other approaches all stand to play potential roles.



Figure 17: 2024 Cloud Coverage Trends, Poland (Rzeszów-Jasionka Airport)

Source: Weather Spark.78



Figure 18: Atmospheric Transmission by Elevation, Day/Night, Humidity

Day and night temperatures, tropical and standard environments, and other factors can have a marked impact on the performance of passive EO/IR sensors.

Source: MIT Lincoln Laboratory.79

Hiding in Plain Sight

he era of massed air and missile threats is already here.⁸⁰ Adversaries are finding and fixing friendly forces, and they aim to destroy the ability of air defenses to see and make sense of the battlespace. What is needed is a thicket of sensors–both high- and low-end–to survive this environment. As Army doctrine exhorts, air defenders must "account for being under constant observation and all forms of enemy contact."⁸¹ To date, however, the AMD sensing force structure has remained too heavily reliant on handfuls of exquisite, large-signature surface-based radars.

Proliferation, distribution, and emission control are all needed adaptations, both to protect and qualitatively improve existing air and missile defenses. The use of new phenomenologies like EO/ IR and passive radar could help cover difficult regions, conserve radar resources, and discriminate real targets from false ones. These capabilities could backfill long-lead-time sensing capabilities, like the Space Force's Proliferated Warfighter Space Architecture, as they come online. It is, in sum, a matter of realizing the 2018 National Defense Strategy's call to "deploy, survive, operate, maneuver, and regenerate in all domains while under attack" and the 2022 version's emphasis on "effective coordination of distributed forces."⁸²

A proliferated, passive, and surface-based sensor network would by no means replace the need for active radar systems in the air and missile defense mission. Several important considerations and problems would need to be overcome. These include challenges in deploying many assets at scale, difficulties in networking and planning such deployments, and fundamental hurdles with inclement weather. Most importantly, variation in the number of sensors needed for coverage–up to nearly 400 in a Poland-sized notional scenario, depending on target class–will determine the extent of what is possible. This report does not attempt to engineer individual sensors and cost a bill of materials. However, by describing the total quantities needed for various coverage scenarios, it informs analyses on unit economics for meeting desired future price targets.

In sum, such an architecture could substantially improve an overall defense design. Integrating multiple sensors and viewing targets at multiple angles could increase the performance of existing systems.⁸³ The above case study is a suggestion that even a network of 14 sensors could add redundancy for midsize-nation hypersonic missile defense scenarios, especially for high-altitude targets (Figures 10, 11, 12, 13). While larger networks are needed to defeat low-flying threats, a smaller sensor network could offer valuable tracking or cueing support against ballistic missiles, expanding decision timelines by minutes and increasing the number of missiles intercepted by up to a quarter in one scenario. An airborne layer of passive sensors would further improve sensing capability and confound enemy suppression.⁸⁴

The case studies considered here validate a new vision for air and missile defense: bringing proliferated sensing down from the heavens and into the hands of warfighters on earth. The decreasing cost of microelectronics, networking equipment, sensors, and software have made it possible to innovate; battlefield experiences in both Ukraine and the Middle East have provided the imperative to do so. Faced with the threat of complex and integrated attack, the existing air and missile defense architecture would benefit from a more proliferated, passive, and ultimately resilient posture. Doing so would, at long last, better align AMD operations to the strategic environment of today.

About the Authors

Masao Dahlgren is a fellow with the Missile Defense Project at the Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS), where he writes on missile defense, space, and emerging technologies. In addition to his writing, he has presented at conferences including the Hypersonic Innovation Conference and Directed Energy Technology Symposium and appeared in outlets including *The Wall Street Journal, The Economist,* Axios, CNBC, and others. Prior to joining CSIS, he worked at the Middlebury Institute of International Studies, U.S. Department of Justice, and NVIDIA Corporation.

Patrycja Bazylczyk is a program manager and research associate with the Missile Defense Project at CSIS. Prior to joining CSIS, she worked at the Arnold A. Saltzman Institute of War and Peace Studies, the Council on Foreign Relations, and the Senate Committee on Foreign Relations. She holds an MA in international affairs from Columbia University's School of International and Public Affairs and a BA in government from Dartmouth College.

Tom Karako is the director of the Missile Defense Project and a senior fellow with the Defense and Security Department at CSIS, where he arrived in 2014. His research focuses on national security, missile defense, nuclear deterrence, and public law. In 2010-2011, he was an American Political Science Association congressional fellow, working with the professional staff of the House Armed Services Committee and the Subcommittee on Strategic Forces on U.S. strategic forces policy, nonproliferation, and NATO. Dr. Karako received his PhD from Claremont Graduate University and his BA from the University of Dallas.

Endnotes

- U.S. Army, FM 3-0: Operations (Washington, DC: U.S. Army, October 2022), https://web.archive.org/ web/20250215140030/https://armypubs.army.mil/epubs/DR_pubs/DR_a/ARN36290-FM_3-0-000-WEB-2.pdf; Michael Horowitz, "Battles of Precise Mass: Technology Is Remaking War–and America Must Adapt," Foreign Affairs 103, no. 6 (November/December 2024): https://www.foreignaffairs.com/ world/battles-precise-mass-technology-war-horowitz; and Thomas Mahnken, "Weapons: The Growth and Spread of the Precision-Strike Regime," Daedalus 140, no. 3 (2011): 45-57, https://doi.org/10.1162/ DAED_a_00097.
- 2 U.S. Marine Corps, *Force Design 2030: Annual Update* (Washington, DC: U.S. Marine Corps, 2021), https://www.marines.mil/Portals/1/Docs/2021%20Force%20Design%20Annual%20Update.pdf.
- 3 Tom Karako, "Beyond the Radar Archipelago: A New Roadmap for Missile Defense Sensors," *War on the Rocks*, November 15, 2018, https://warontherocks.com/2018/11/beyond-the-radar-archipelago-a-newroadmap-for-missile-defense-sensors/; and Brandon Nalley, "Roving Sands' Exercises Missile Defense Expeditionary Operations," *Fires* (November/December 2019): 7-9, https://tradocfcoeccafcoepfwprod. blob.core.usgovcloudapi.net/fires-bulletin-archive/2019/nov-dec/nov-dec.pdf.
- 4 "Air Force Exercises Two Collaborative Combat Aircraft Option Awards," *Air Force News Service*, April 24, 2024, https://www.af.mil/News/Article-Display/Article/3754980/air-force-exercises-two-collaborative-combat-aircraft-option-awards/; "Kendall, Allvin, Saltzman Urge Modernization while Warning Senate of Delayed Budget," *Air Force News Service*, April 9, 2024, https://www.spaceforce.mil/News/Article-Display/Article/3735968/kendall-allvin-saltzman-urge-modernization-while-warning-senate-of-delayed-budg/; William Daly, "Warfighting Capabilities" (keynote speech given at Surface Navy Association National Symposium, Arlington, Virginia, January 14, 2025), https://www.defensenews.com/video/2025/01/15/ navy-surface-warfare-director-no-more-big-expensive-drones-the-future-is-one-affordable-design/; Sam LaGrone, "Pentagon Will Spend \$1B on First Round of Replicator Drones," *USNI News*, March 11, 2024, https://news.usni.org/2024/03/11/pentagon-will-spend-1b-on-first-round-of-replicator-drones; and Masao

Dahlgren, *Getting on Track: Space and Airborne Sensors for Hypersonic Missile Defense* (Washington, DC: CSIS, December 2023), https://csis-website-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2023-12/231218_Dahlgren_Getting_Track_0.pdf?VersionId=gyTyKePGJmFvnZmTgQY5._GidZ0jfGh4.

- 5 Chance Saltzman, "Opening Keynote" (speech given at the Third Annual Spacepower Security Forum, Washington, DC, March 27, 2024), https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QrtOjlRhbyM; Clayton Swope et al., "Integrating Space for the Joint Fight" (public event, CSIS, Washington, DC, June 12, 2024), https:// www.csis.org/analysis/integrating-space-joint-fight; Matthew Slusher and Austin Gray, "Air and Space Domain Lessons from Russia-Ukraine: Part One, Conflict in Focus" (podcast, CSIS, Washington, DC, March 20, 2025), https://www.csis.org/analysis/air-and-space-domain-lessons-russia-ukraine-part-oneconflict-focus; and Mark Gunzinger et al., *The Need for Collaborative Combat Aircraft for Disruptive Air Warfare* (Arlington: The Mitchell Institute, February 2024), https://www.mitchellaerospacepower.org/ app/uploads/2024/02/The-Need-For-CCAs-for-Disruptive-Air-Warfare-FULL-FINAL.pdf.
- 6 Much of the technologies enabling distributed operations—sensor fusion, networked command and control, computing itself—were originally invented for AMD. The first large-scale computer communications network was constructed for air defense. The SAGE air defense network consisted of over 250 networked radars, connected by the largest computer built at the time. See John F. Jacobs, *The SAGE Air Defense System: A Personal History* (Bedford: The MITRE Corporation, 1986); and North American Aerospace Defense Command, *NORAD/CONAD Historical Summary* (Colorado Springs: NORAD/CONAD, 1965), https://www.northcom.mil/Portals/28/Documents/Supporting%20documents/ (U)%201965%20NORAD%20CONAD%20History%20Jan-Jun.pdf.
- 7 Karako, "Beyond the Radar Archipelago"; Tyler Rogoway, "China is Using E-3 Sentry Mockups for Targets on its Ballistic Missile Impact Range," *The War Zone*, November 12, 2021, https://www.twz. com/43101/china-is-using-e-3-sentry-mockups-for-targets-on-its-ballistic-missile-impact-range; and Masao Dahlgren, "Iran Tests New Missiles in Combat Drills," *Missile Threat*, August 4, 2020, https:// missilethreat.csis.org/iran-tests-new-missiles-in-combat-drills/.
- 8 Karako, "Beyond the Radar Archipelago."
- 9 Farzin Nadimi, "Iran Applies Maximum Power to Annual IRGC Naval Exercise," The Washington Institute for Near East Policy, *Policy Analysis*, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/iran-applies-maximum-power-annual-irgc-naval-exercise.
- 10 U.S. Army, *FM 3-0*.
- 11 Ryan McGovern, "Adapting to Multi-Domain Battlefield: Developing Emissions Control SOP," U.S. Army, April 22, 2025, https://www.army.mil/article/284546/adapting_to_multi_domain_battlefield_developing_ emissions_control_sop.
- 12 Jonas Myhre Christiansen, *DVB-T Based Passive Bistatic Radar* (Kjeller, Norway: Norwegian Defence Research Establishment, 2010), https://www.ffi.no/en/publications-archive/dvb-t-based-passive-bistaticradar.
- 13 "How Ukraine's New Tech Foils Russian Aerial Attacks," *The Economist*, July 24, 2024, https://www.economist.com/science-and-technology/2024/07/24/how-ukraines-new-tech-foils-russian-aerial-attacks.
- 14 Tom Karako and Wes Rumbaugh, *Distributed Defense: New Operational Concepts for Integrated Air and Missile Defense* (Washington, DC: CSIS, January 2018), https://www.csis.org/analysis/distributed-defense.
- 15 Michael V. Namorato, "A Concise History of Acoustics in Warfare," *Applied Acoustics* 59 (2000): 101-135; and Gascia Ouzounian, "Powers of Hearing: The Military Science of Sound Location," *The MIT Press Reader*, July 26, 2021, https://thereader.mitpress.mit.edu/powers-of-hearing-the-military-science-ofsound-location/.

- 16 Audrey Decker, "Ukraine's Cheap Sensors are Helping Troops Fight Off Waves of Russian Drones," Defense One, July 20, 2024, https://www.defenseone.com/defense-systems/2024/07/ukrainescheap-sensors-are-helping-troops-fight-waves-russian-drones/398204/; and Ian Williams, Putin's Missile War (Washington, DC: CSIS, May 2023), https://csis-website-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fspublic/2023-05/230505_Williams_Putin_Missile.pdf?VersionId=OrahER.P810o5ispb8.UGcT_90DmLoSb.
- 17 "How Ukraine's New Tech Foils Russian Aerial Attacks," *The Economist*, July 24, 2024, https://www.economist.com/science-and-technology/2024/07/24/how-ukraines-new-tech-foils-russian-aerial-attacks.
- 18 James B. Hecker, "Rising Intensity of Competition and Conflict" (panel, Air and Space Forces Association Warfare Symposium, Aurora, CO, February 13, 2024), https://www.afa.org/app/uploads/2024/02/ AWS24_Rising-Intensity-of-Competition-and-Conflict_Transcript.pdf; James B. Hecker, "Air Superiority: A Renewed Vision," *Æther: A Journal of Strategic Airpower & Spacepower* 3, no. 2 (Summer 2024): 5-10, https://www.airuniversity.af.edu/Portals/10/AEtherJournal/Journals/Volume-3_Number-2/Hecker.pdf; and "Project," Zvook.tech, https://www.zvook.tech/en/project.
- 19 *The Economist*, "Ukraine's New Tech"; Joe Barnes, "How Ukraine Is Using Mobile Phones on 6ft Poles to Stop Drones," *The Telegraph*, March 26, 2024, https://www.telegraph.co.uk/world-news/2024/03/26/ ukraine-mobile-phones-poles-sensors-russian-drones-simple/; and Jeremy M. Davis, "Mobility Matters: Innovating for Area Air Defense," *Air Defense Artillery Journal* (2024): 1-4, https://www.lineofdeparture. army.mil/Portals/144/PDF/Journals/Air-Defense-Artillery/Mobile-UA.pdf.
- 20 James B. Hecker, "Air Superiority"; and The Economist, "Ukraine's New Tech."
- 21 Ibid.; Kateryna Bondar, "Ukraine's Future Vision and Current Capabilities for Waging AI-Enabled Autonomous Warfare," CSIS, March 6, 2025, https://www.csis.org/analysis/ukraines-future-vision-andcurrent-capabilities-waging-ai-enabled-autonomous-warfare#h2-ai-in-intelligence-surveillance-andreconnaissance.
- 22 Joe Barnes, "How Ukraine Is Using Mobile Phones"; James B. Decker, "Air Superiority"; *The Economist*, "Ukraine's New Tech"; and Team 6, SHIELD 2024, *Acoustic Lily Pads: Innovation at the Speed of Deterrence* (Alexandria, VA: Missile Defense Advocacy Alliance, 2024), https://missiledefenseadvocacy. org/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/Team-6-Acoustic-Lily-Pads-Final-Report.pdf.
- 23 Joe Barnes, "How Ukraine Is Using Mobile Phones."
- 24 The Economist, "Ukraine's New Tech"; Zvook.tech, "Project."
- 25 *The Economist*, "Ukraine's New Tech"; and Cummings et al., "Defining the Tradespace for Passively Defending Against Rogue Drones," *Journal of Intelligent and Robotic Systems* 103 (2021): 69, https://link. springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s10846-021-01524-w.pdf.
- 26 Yana Yagory, "Hear and Destroy: How Artificial Intelligence Helps Shoot Down Cruise Missiles over Ukraine," Ukrainska Pravda, March 1, 2023, https://www.pravda.com.ua/eng/ articles/2023/03/1/7391493/; The Economist, "Ukraine's New Tech"; and Serhii Pohasii et al., "Application of Cost-Effective Acoustic Intelligence to Protect Critical Facilities from Drone Attacks" (paper presented at the 2022 IEEE 3rd KhPI Week on Advanced Technology, Kharhiv, Ukraine, 2022), 1-6.
- 27 Missile Defense Advocacy Alliance, *Acoustic Lily Pads*, 29-41; *The Economist*, "Ukraine's New Tech"; and Serhii Pohasii et al., "Application of Cost-Effective Acoustic Intelligence."
- 28 James R. Brungess, Setting the Context: Suppression of Enemy Air Defenses and Joint War Fighting in an Uncertain World (Maxwell Air Force Base: Air University Press, 1994), https://www.airuniversity.af.edu/ Portals/10/AUPress/Books/B_0054_BRUNGESS_SETTING_CONTEXT.pdf.
- 29 Sean Carberry, "Ukraine Driving Air Force Search for Low-Cost Systems," National Defense, September

17, 2024, https://www.nationaldefensemagazine.org/articles/2024/9/17/ukraine-driving-air-force-search-for-low-cost-systems.

- 30 Joe Barnes, "How Ukraine Is Using Mobile Phones"; and *The Economist*, "Ukraine's New Tech."
- 31 James R. Brungess, *Setting the Context*.
- 32 Walter J. Bernard, "Silent-Mode Air Surveillance," in *RTO Meeting Proceedings* 63: Systems Concepts for Integrated Air Defense of Multinational Mobile Crisis Reaction Forces (Valencia: NATO, 2001): 2-1-2-13, https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/tr/pdf/ADA391354.pdf.
- 33 Leander Humbert, "Passive Radar Systems" (presentation, Rohde and Schwarz), https://www.rohdeschwarz.taipei/data/activity/file/1704249849601822940.pdf; A. Manikas, "Passive, UWB, Cognitive and SAR Radar" (lecture, Imperial College London, March 2021), https://skynet.ee.ic.ac.uk/notes/Radar_10_ other_Radar_with_SAR.pdf; and "Hensoldt Twinvis Passive Radar - See Without Being Seen," YouTube video, posted by Hensoldt, March 25, 2021, 3:17, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RfqdLKFhGnQ.
- 34 Leander Humbert and Tim Fountain, *An Introduction to Passive Radar Systems: A Test and Measurement Perspective* (Munich: Rohde and Schwarz, 2023), https://scdn.rohde-schwarz.com/ur/pws/dl_downloads/ premiumdownloads/premium_dl_pdm_downloads/3684_0182_52/An-introduction-to-passive-radarsystems_wp_en_3684-0182-52_v0100.pdf; and "Leidos is Building Advanced Air Defense Sensors for the Marines," Leidos, June 22, 2023, https://www.leidos.com/insights/leidos-building-advanced-air-defensesensors-marines.
- 35 Ibid.
- 36 John Keller, "Raytheon to Develop and Demonstrate Two Prototype Advanced Photonic Radar Systems," *Military Aerospace Electronics*, February 2024, https://digital. militaryaerospace.com/militaryaerospace/january_february_2024/MobilePagedArticle. action?articleId=1953948&app=false&cmsId=4169687#articleId1953948; and Piers J. Beasley, Dilan Dhulashia, and Matthew A. Ritchie, *Adaptive Active-Passive Radar Control for Low Probability of Intercept Operation* (Brussels: NATO STO, April 2023), https://www.sto.nato.int/publications/STO%20Meeting%20 Proceedings/STO-MP-SET-311/MP-SET-311-MSS-020.pdf.
- 37 Shaan Sheikh, "U.S. Army to Deploy New Alps to Detect Cruise," Missile Threat, CSIS, News, https:// missilethreat.csis.org/us-army-to-deploy-new-alps-to-detect-cruise-missiles-aircraft-uas/; and Daniel L. Karber, *Fiscal Year 2023 Authorization Request for Missile Defense*, Statement before the Subcommittee on Strategic Forces, House Committee on Armed Services, 117th Cong., 2nd sess. (May 11, 2022), https:// docs.house.gov/meetings/AS/AS29/20220511/115062/HHRG-117-AS29-Wstate-KarblerD-20220511.pdf.
- 38 U.S. Army, Department of Defense Fiscal Year (FY) 2025 Budget Estimates: Research, Development, Test & Evaluation, Army, Volume II, Budget Activity 5B (Washington, DC: U.S. Army, 2024), https://www.asafm. army.mil/Portals/72/Documents/BudgetMaterial/2025/Base%20Budget/Research,%20Development,%20 Test%20and%20Evaluation/RDTE%20-%20Vol%202%20-%20Budget%20Activity%205B.pdf.
- 39 While mitigations are possible, radars at low elevations must contend with "multipath effects" stemming from radar signals reflecting off of the ground.
- 40 G.M. Koretsky, J.F. Nicoll, and M.S. Taylor, *A Tutorial on Electro-Optical/Infrared (EO/IR) Theory and Systems* (Alexandria: Institute for Defense Analyses, 2013), https://www.ida.org/-/media/feature/ publications/a/at/a-tutorial-on-e-lectro--opticalinfrared-eoir-theory-and-systems/ida-document-d-4642. ashx.
- 41 Bernard, "Silent-Mode Air Surveillance."
- 42 Steven Fiorino, "Developing Directed Energy Weapons to Operate Across a Range of Atmospheric

Conditions" (presentation, 5th Annual Directed Energy Symposium, National Harbor, MD, October 5, 2022).

- 43 "Space-Physics / Lowtran," Github, accessed April 22, 2025, https://github.com/space-physics/lowtran.
- 44 Ibid.
- 45 Walter J. Bernard, "Silent-Mode Air Surveillance," in *RTO Meeting Proceedings* 63: *Systems Concepts for Integrated Air Defense of Multinational Mobile Crisis Reaction Forces* (Valencia: NATO, 2001): 2-1-2-13, https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/tr/pdf/ADA391354.pdf.
- 46 Ibid.
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 Ibid.; Barry Starr et al., "RVS Large Format Arrays for Astronomy," *Proceedings of SPIE 9915, High Energy, Optical, and Infrared Detectors for Astronomy VII* (July 2016): https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2233033; Xavier Brenière, Laurent Rubaldo, and Frederic Dupont, "Sofradir's Recent Improvements Regarding the Reliability and Performance of HgCdTe IR Detectors," *Proceedings of SPIE 9070 Infrared Technology and Applications XL* (June 2014): 836-45, http://doi.org/10.1117/12.2051705; and Antoni Rogalski, "Next Decade in Infrared Detectors," *Proceedings of SPIE 10433, Electro-Optical and Infrared Systems: Technology and Applications* XIV 104330L (October 2017): http://doi.org/10.1117/12.2300779.
- 49 Ayoub Benali Amjoud and Mustapha Amrouch, "Object Detection Using Deep Learning, CNNs and Vision Transformers: A Review," *IEEE Access* 11 (2023): 35479-35516, http://doi.org/10.1109/ ACCESS.2023.3266093.
- 50 Fabre et al., "From Near-Sensor to In-Sensor: A State-of-the-Art Review of Embedded AI Vision Systems," Sensors 24, no. 16 (2024): 5446, https://cea.hal.science/cea-O4799491v1/file/MDPI_NearInSensor.pdf; David Yakar, "Processing Gigapixels in Real Time," *Vision Systems Design*, February 9, 2022, https://www. vision-systems.com/boards-software/article/14233489/processing-gigapixels-in-real-time; and Yunhang An, "The Evolving Landscape of CMOS Image Sensor Interfaces," Association for Advancing Automation, *Tech Papers*, February 6, 2025, https://www.automate.org/tech-papers/the-evolving-landscape-of-cmosimage-sensor-interfaces.
- 51 Canon, *EOS R5* (Tokyo: Canon, March 2024), https://s7d1.scene7.com/is/content/canon/EOSR5_ specifications_FINAL_3_25_24pdf; Kiyomichi et al., "Development of Image Data Acquisition System for 2D Detector at SACLA," Proceedings of ICALEPCS2011 (2011): 947-949, https://accelconf.web.cern.ch/ icalepcs2011/papers/wepmn028.pdf; and "imaFlex CXP-12 Quad," Basler, https://www.baslerweb.com/ en-us/shop/imaflex-cxp-12-quad/.
- 52 U.S. Congress, Senate Committee on Armed Services, *To Consider the Nomination of: Admiral Samuel J. Paparo, Jr., USN for Reappointment to the Grade of Admiral and to be Commander, United States Indo-Pacific Command*, 118th Cong., 2nd sess. (February 1, 2024), https://www.armed-services.senate.gov/ hearings/to-consider-the-nomination-of_admiral-samuel-j-paparo-jr-usn-for-reappointment-to--thegrade-of-admiral-and-to-be--commander-united-states-indo-pacific-command.
- 53 James Jablonski and Jonathan Alt, *Estimating Geometric Intervisibility to the Aerial Layer with Military Applications* (Monterey: Army Futures Command, 2019), https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/trecms/pdf/AD1075106. pdf; Ernesto G. Birgin and Antoine Laurain, "Shape Optimization for Covering Problems," *Notices of the American Mathematical Society* 70, no. 10 (2023): 1584–1591, https://www.ams.org/notices/202310/ rnoti-p1584.pdf.
- 54 Randolph Franklin, Clark K. Ray, and Shashank Mehta, *Geometric Algorithms for Siting* of Air Defense Missile Batteries (Alexandria: Battelle, 1994), https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/ document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=eede5af0689a172082cc343b2d1f2c159e421bcc; John Benton

and V.S. Subrahmanian, *Automated Site Selection of Air Defense Missile Batteries* (Alexandria: U.S. Army Topographic Engineering Center, 1994), https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/tr/pdf/ADA277960.pdf; and Chakrabarty et al., "Grid Coverage for Surveillance and Target Location in Distributed Sensor Networks," *IEEE Transactions on Computers* 51, no. 12 (December 2002): 1448-1453, https://doi.org/10.1109/ TC.2002.1146711.

- 55 Santpal S. Dhillon, Krishnendu Chakrabarty, and S. S. Iyengar, Sensor Placement for Grid Coverage under Imprecise Detections (Arlington: Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency, 2005), https://apps. dtic.mil/sti/pdfs/ADA440417.pdf; Giovanni Viglietta, "Guarding and Searching Polyhedra" (PhD diss., University of Pisa, 2024), https://arxiv.org/pdf/1211.2483; Marengoni et al., "A System to Place Observers on a Polyhedral Terrain in Polynomial Time," *Image and Vision Computing* 18, no. 10 (2000): 773-780, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0262-8856(99)00045-1; Diego Sušanj, Domagoj Pinčić, and Kristijan Lenac, "Effective Area Coverage of 2D and 3D Environments With Directional and Isotropic Sensors," *IEEE Access* 8 (2020): 185595-185608, https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3029618; and Andrey V. Savkin and Hailong Huang, "Proactive Deployment of Aerial Drones for Coverage over Very Uneven Terrains: A Version of the 3D Art Gallery Problem" *Sensors* 19, no. 6 (2019): 1438, https://doi.org/10.3390/s19061438.
- 56 Author calculation, https://www.desmos.com/calculator/li3ez5wqpy.
- 57 U.S. Army, *FM* 3-01.85: *Patriot Battalion and Battery Operations* (Washington, DC: U.S. Army, May 2002), https://archive.org/details/Fm301.85PatriotBattalionAndBatteryOperations/mode/2up.
- 58 U.S. Army, *FM* 3-27: *Army Global Missile Defense Operations* (Washington, DC: U.S. Army, August 2023), https://armypubs.army.mil/epubs/DR_pubs/DR_a/ARN38993-FM_3-27-000-WEB-1.pdf.
- 59 Ibid.
- 60 Meguerdichian et al., "Coverage Problems in Wireless Ad-hoc Sensor Networks," *Proceedings IEEE INFOCOM 2001* 3 (2001): 1380-1387, https://doi.org/10.1109/INFCOM.2001.916633; and Riham Elhabyan, Wei Shi, and Marc St-Hilaire, "Coverage Protocols for Wireless Sensor Networks: Review and Future Directions," *Journal of Communications and Networks* 21, no. 1 (2019): 45-60, https://doi.org/10.1109/ JCN.2019.000005.
- 61 U.S. Army, *FM* 3-27.
- 62 Jablonski and Alt, Estimating Geometric Intervisibility.
- 63 Laura A. T. Lee, Ray C. Prouty, and David J. Sepucha, *Challenges for Vertical Collaboration Among Warfighters for Missile Defense C2* (San Diego: Sparta, 2004), https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/tr/pdf/ADA466039. pdf.
- 64 Yun Wang, Matthew Wilkerson, and Xudong Yu, "Hybrid Sensor Deployment for Surveillance and Target Detection in Wireless Sensor Networks" (paper presented at the 2011 7th International Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing Conference, Istanbul, Turkey, 2011), 326-330, https://doi. org/10.1109/IWCMC.2011.5982554.
- 65 Howard Altman, "It Took 73 C-17 Loads to Move Patriot Battalion From Pacific to Middle East," The War Zone, April 10, 2025, https://www.twz.com/air/it-took-73-c-17-loads-to-move-patriot-battalion-frompacific-to-middle-east.
- 66 U.S. Army, *FM* 3-27.
- 67 Benton and Subrahamian, *Automated Site Selection*; and U.S. Army, *PAA Analysis in Severely Restricted Terrain* (Fort Leavenworth: U.S. Army, January 2024), https://api.army.mil/e2/c/downloads/2024/01/25/a8b49a1b/24-846-paa-analysis-jan-22-public.pdf.
- 68 Cam Key et al., "All-Sky Electro-Optical Tracking of Mega-Constellations in Low Earth Orbit" (paper

presented at the 2022 Advanced Maui Optical and Space Surveillance Technologies Conference, Maui, HI, 2022), https://amostech.com/TechnicalPapers/2022/Optical-Systems_Instrumentation/Key.pdf.

- 69 National Park Service, *Delta-O9 and the Minuteman II Missile* (Washington, DC: Department of the Interior), https://www.wall-badlands.com/assets/docs/uploads/launch-facility-missile-silo-delta-09.pdf; and NPS/J. Milbrath, "Delta-O9 Missile Silo," National Park Service, https://www.nps.gov/places/delta-09. htm.
- 70 "U.S. Army Uses Lockheed Martin RIG-360 to Help PAC-3 Intercept Target," Army Technology, *News*, November 24, 2022, https://www.army-technology.com/news/us-army-uses-lockheed-martin-rig-360-to-help-pac-3-intercept-target/?cf-view.
- 71 Jon Harper, "DIU Shopping for Autonomous Robo-boats with Swarming Capabilities for US Navy," *DefenseScoop*, January 30, 2024, https://defensescoop.com/2024/01/30/diu-usv-susv-autonomousswarm-navy/; and Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory,"Terminal Diagnostics at Sea," *Science and Technology Review* (June 2024): https://str.llnl.gov/sites/str/files/2024-08/2024-06-4-terminal-diagnosticsat-sea.pdf.
- 72 John A. Tirpak, "Boutique ISR," *Air and Space Forces Magazine*, February 16, 2012, https://www. airandspaceforces.com/boutiqueisr/; Sharon Weinberger, "How ESPN Taught the Pentagon to Handle a Deluge of Drone Data," *Popular Mechanics*, June 11, 2012, https://www.popularmechanics.com/military/ a7967/how-the-pentagon-will-handle-its-deluge-of-drone-data-9600910/; and Lance Menthe et al., *Technology Innovation and the Future of Air Force Intelligence Analysis, Volume 2: Technical Analysis and Supporting Material* (Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, 2021), https://www.rand.org/content/dam/ rand/pubs/research_reports/RRA300/RRA341-2/RAND_RRA341-2.pdf.
- 73 Bernard, "Silent-Mode Air Surveillance."
- 74 Chaim Gartenberg, "Qualcomm's New Snapdragon 888 Promises Faster Speeds, Better Cameras, and More Powerful AI," *The Verge*, December 2, 2020, https://www.theverge.com/2020/12/2/21672519/ qualcomm-snapdragon-888-cpu-gpu-details-performance-ai-isp-photography-specs-release-date.
- 75 "Data on Machine Learning Hardware," Epoch AI, accessed April 23, 2025, https://epoch.ai/ data/machine-learning-hardware; and "CVPR Statistics," Paper Copilot, accessed April 23, 2025, https://papercopilot.com/statistics/cvpr-statistics/#:-:text=CVPR%202020%20%E2%80%A2%20 paperlist%2C%206424%2C,%2C.%20Count%3A.
- 76 William Bourque, Charles Nelson, and Douglas Nelson, "Evidence and Implications of Differences in Atmospheric Optical Turbulence Behavior on Opposite Coastal Environments," *Journal of Directed Energy* 6 (Spring 2017): 187-197; Jarred L. Burley and Steven T. Fiorino, "A Remote Sensing and Atmospheric Correction Method for Assessing Multispectral Radiative Transfer through Realistic Atmospheres and Clouds," *Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology* 36, No. 2 (2019): 203-216, https://doi.org/10.1175/JTECH-D-18-0078.1; Glen Perram et al., *An Introduction to Laser Weapon Systems* (Albuquerque, NM: Directed Energy Professional Society, 2009), ISBN: 978-0979368745; and Ashley Roque, "Strykers with 50-kilowatt lasers in CENTCOM for experiment, Army No. 2 says," *Breaking Defense*, March 1, 2024, https://breakingdefense.com/2024/03/exclusive-strykers-with-50-kilowatt-lasersin-centcom-for-experiment-army-no-2-says/.
- 77 Masao Dahlgren and Pat Bazylczyk, "Weather Research and Missile Defense: Save for a Rainy Day," CSIS, *Commentary*, June 23, 2025, https://www.csis.org/analysis/weather-research-and-missile-defense-save-rainy-day.
- 78 Reprinted from James Diebel, "Cloud Cover Categories at Rzeszów-Jasionka Airport," WeatherSpark, accessed April 21, 2024, Figure 4, https://weatherspark.com/y/148501/Average-Weather-at-Rzesz%C3%B3w%E2%80%93Jasionka-Airport-Poland-Year-Round.

- 79 Michael J. Cantella, "Space Surveillance with Medium Range Infrared Sensors," *Lincoln Lab Journal* 1, no. 1 (1988): 75-88, https://archive.ll.mit.edu/publications/journal/pdf/vol01_no1/1.1.5.MWIRsensors.pdf.
- 80 Michael Horowitz and Joshua Schwartz, "Stealth and Scale: Quality, Quantity, and Modern Military Power," *War on the Rocks*, December 18, 2024, https://warontherocks.com/2024/12/stealth-and-scalequality-quantity-and-modern-military-power/.
- 81 U.S. Army, *FM 3-0*.
- 82 Tom Karako, "The 2022 Missile Defense Review: Still Seeking Alignment," CSIS, *Commentary*, October 27, 2022, https://www.csis.org/analysis/2022-missile-defense-review-still-seeking-alignment.
- 83 Conrad J. Grant, "CEC: Sensor Netting with Integrated Fire Control," *Johns Hopkins APL Technical Digest* 23, no. 2 and 3 (2002): 149-161, https://secwww.jhuapl.edu/techdigest/content/techdigest/pdf/V23-N2-3/23-02-Grant.pdf.
- 84 Wes Rumbaugh and Tom Karako, "Extending the Horizon: Elevated Sensors for Targeting and Missile Defense," CSIS, *CSIS Briefs*, September 27, 2021, https://www.csis.org/analysis/extending-horizon-elevated-sensors-targeting-and-missile-defense.

CSIS CENTER FOR STRATEGIC & INTERNATIONAL STUDIES

1616 Rhode Island Avenue NW Washington, DC 20036 202 887 0200 | www.csis.org

